

Team members

Alice Sueko Müller | Anshoo Mehra | Chaitnya Chopra | Ekaterina Seltikova Isabel Alonso Serrano | James Xie | Jay Kamdar | Julie Pradel | Kunal Kulkarni Matej Poliaček | Myles Harris | Nitya Jagadam | Richal Abhang | Ruvimbo Samanga | Sagarika Rao Valluri Sanket Kalambe | Sejal Budholiya | Selene Cannelli

Space Generation Advisory Council Team







Contents

Society and Culture	3
Tourist Attractions	3
Astronaut and Tourist Selection	3
Architecture	4
Module 1: Greenhouse, Guest Amenities, Medicine, and Environmental Control	5
Module 2: Social Space and Greenhouse	5
Module 3: Kitchen, Fitness, Hygiene, and Social	6
Module 3: Sky-view	6
Module 4: Crew Bedrooms and Private Social Space	6
Module 5: Workspace	6
Management and Politics	7
Governance, Ownership, and Intellectual Property	7
Crew Operations	7
Base Management System	8
Safety & Emergency Planning	8
Engineering	9
Landing & Settlement Site	9
Settlement Structure	10
Robotics and Extravehicular Activities (EVAs)	10
Construction Timeline	11
Communications System	12
Critical Life Support (Air & Water) Systems	12
Thermal System	13
Food & Human Waste Recycling	14
Other Waste	14
Technical Floor Plan	14
Power Generation & Storage	14
Economy	16
Capital & Operating Costs	16
Revenue Generation	17
Tourism & Outreach	17
Commercial Activities	18
Lunar Manufacturing	18
References	20

ntariksha, aptly meaning 'the universe' in Sanskrit, is an avid stargazer fascinated by the blanket of splurging stars she saw from her village in North East India. Today, her joy knew no bounds upon learning that she would get a chance to visit Domi Inter Astra, the lunar settlement! Perhaps what made it even more special was that she had been able to commemorate everything it stood for by winning the DIA logo making competition. She wondered how Neil Armstrong must've felt when he first stepped on the moon. She would soon find out. This was going

to be a giant leap for all the young girls around the world, and she knew something incredible is waiting to be known.

"Each civilization must become space-faring or extinct". Carl Sagan's words transported her to another world, as she laid her eyes on the huge map that lay in front of her. It reminded her of home, but at the same time, it was a peek into a whole new world. She wasn't going to be alone, she had friended the sentient AI mascot, LISA (Lunar Intelligent Support Assistant).



Figure 1: Artistic render of the view from the settlement cupola to the day sky and lunar landscape, showing a crewed rover model and an Earthrise in the background.

Society and Culture

Antariksha was intrigued about how her logo could translate into everything the DIA stood for, perhaps getting to know about the culture and society would guide.

LISA- Culture resides in the heart and soul of the people and what the base stands for. It will definitely be an inspiration for generations to come.

Domi Inter Astra (DIA) is a multinational lunar settlement, an amalgam of people from all cultures with its own multi-cultural traditions, involving those not only from Earth but also traditions unique to the settlement. The base operates for the benefit of all humankind following five core values: collaboration, exploration, equality, curiosity, and safety. The code of conduct advocates equality of financial background, education, caste, religion, creed, race, gender, color, nationality and age.

Tourist Attractions

There are a variety of tourist attractions on DIA, with the most unique being the lunar landscape (Figure 1) and opportunities for exploration and EVAs. Art and creativity is encouraged on DIA, with resident artists and the crew able to photograph the area and create other artworks to share on Earth. Tourists are also able to engage in the leisure activities available for crew, described in *§Architecture*.

Each new arrival starts their journey travelling from the landing site to the settlement - this is their first

opportunity to see the lunar landscape through the crewed rover as well as the settlement as they approach. The habitat is organized as a living museum with placards describing the various aspects to the base, allowing guests to explore and experience the differences between Earth and Lunar life and see the engineering required for human exploration; as well as helping new crews learn. Tourists are welcome to follow the crew as they work with their payloads and accompany rover/EVA missions and are encouraged to document life on the lunar settlement to share as outreach, and can bring back photos, videos, and souvenirs to commemorate their experiences, as well as leave behind mementos for future guests. The uncrewed rovers are out at the different sites, including Shackleton Crater and tourists are able to look through the robotic cameras to tour the lunar surface, exploring craters and lava tubes.

Astronaut and Tourist Selection

Crew members are selected for technical and interpersonal skills needed to live long periods in an isolated environment, and for skills and passion to promote outreach and education activities that engage the public. Resident artist positions are just as valuable to the operations as core technical research and help to both enrich the lives of crews and develop tourist offerings on the settlement. All visitors to the settlement will need basic training in how to operate in microgravity and emergency response, with crews also required to be familiar with base maintenance and become familiar with the work they will be conducting¹. Analog missions are points for preparing for life on the moon to help crew adjust to the isolated environment, as well as bond with their future crewmates.

Tourists are an integral part of the base's public outreach and offer an opportunity for non-career astronauts to experience the wonders of space. Tourists can reach the base either by purchasing a seat on existing crew changeovers, allowing them to arrive with the new crews and exit with the leaving crew; through dedicated launches allowing for more dedicated crew interaction time; or through a lottery system managed by the person's home country to open the opportunity of space travel beyond the super-rich. As launch costs decrease, the lottery system can easily scale to accommodate more frequent travelers.

Architecture

As an artist she knew how spaces could affect how one felt. She marveled at the simplicity of the structure but yet beautifully functional.

Psychological health is critical for long-duration missions², and is maintained by providing diverse experiences in activities, locations, and social interaction. While crew time is largely consumed by their work, time for leisure becomes more critical as length of stays grow. Entertainment such as board games, music, movies, and books are supplied, and crew may make requests for additional items to be delivered during resupplies. Spaces of varying levels of privacy allow crewmembers to have diverse activities - from large social gatherings in the social module, to smaller groups in the kitchen and crew modules, to individual activities within their rooms such as calling friends/family on Earth. Movable barriers/curtains also allow the crew to segment larger spaces for separate activities. Crew members have access to telemedical services, allowing them to monitor their mental health.

Each module was designed with psychological health in mind, providing a unique spatial experience through color, sound, and material to provide a larger sense of space and opportunities to feel like home³ ⁴. Private spaces are designed to be static, providing consistency in lifestyle, while more public spaces are designed to be modular and dynamic to accommodate different activities and simulate a larger environment.

Crew and guests are provided with a digital key to control access throughout the base which maintains

Figure 2: DIA floor plan showing individual module functionality and overall base interoperability.





Figure 3: Artistic render of Module 2, showing crew social activities and the central greenhouse.

electronic scalability as members enter/leave. Figure 2 provides an overall floor plan of all the modules.

Furniture is designed to use lightweight composites that take advantage of the reduced gravity, be foldable to maximize habitable volume, portable to fit crew needs, and be modular to allow easy repair/ replacement. Wood prints provide a warm atmosphere to help connect crew to Earth. The base uses a combination of LED lights and fiber-optic collectors to pipe in natural light when available, saving energy and adding diversity to the living environment. Lighting can be adjusted to suit the crew's needs, with LEDs in each location able to adjust color to fit the activity (darker blues for sleeping, oranges for physical activity, greens for relaxation, etc.). The ceiling, floor and wall surfaces range in texture to increase a room's apparent size or offer a more comforting atmosphere, while also minimizing equipment noise and adding to the touch experience. Fragrant herbs throughout the settlement provide greenery for crew and offer scents from home to create a continuous fresh and delicate balance of fragrance, as well as a great addition to the food.

Module 1: Greenhouse, Guest Amenities, Medicine, and Environmental Control

Module 1 is the primary entrance to the lunar settlement. When guests and new crews enter through the rover docking port, they are greeted by one of the large greenhouses which provides a familiar sight to help guests relax and acclimatize⁵. Eight guest rooms are located nearby which have a similar layout as crew rooms. This module also contains a dedicated bathroom and hygiene area for guests to have their own space separate from the permanent crew.

The medical room acts as a multipurpose space for human research, pharmacy, general practice and, if needed, emergency procedures including basic surgery with the goal to stabilize a patient for evacuation. Small-scale diagnostic equipment such as ECG, X-ray, and ultrasound are available. Crew rooms are used for nursing and any ongoing care of individual crew. Telemedicine provides the various fields of medical expertise as needed.

The control room houses the primary communications system and controllers for settlement-wide operations and acts as a backup for local controllers in each module. Crew interface with these using laptops over the WLAN, however, a crewmember may opt to work inside the room for less noise to communicate with crew out on EVAs.

Module 2: Social Space and Greenhouse

The central module (Figure 3) is where crew members and tourists can socialize together, relax, and recharge. The social space is built versatile, with furniture able to be rearranged and spaces sectioned off. Base members can share a meal together, play games, read, listen to music, or watch a movie using the ceiling projector. The large greenhouse in the center creates an ambiance of nature that helps to maintain crew mental health⁶⁷. Colors and shapes were chosen to create a modern and refreshing experience of nature, with the hex agonal blocks acting as modular units for shelves, lights, or other decorations, while referencing the collaborative strength of bees relating back to DIA's core values. Mirrors positioned throughout and an increased floor height of 4 m make the room feel larger.

DIA

Module 3: Kitchen, Fitness, Hygiene, and Social

The kitchen is the first module crew enter each day and houses the food supplies and cookware and offers a quieter space for crew to eat together. While cooking is still limited, ovens and microwaves are available for fresh baked goods and fridges for preserving fresh foods supplied or grown. To promote communal eating, the larger crew sizes (and having lunar gravity) allow foods to be shipped in bulk packaging and shared during mealtimes. The foods supplied reflect the global community at the settlement, allowing crews to share diverse experiences to support their mental health. Fresh produce and herbs from the greenhouses also serve a critical part in making crew life closer-to-home - as much as space food has improved, fresh food is still something that many astronauts miss⁸.

At 1/6g, the crew still need ~2 hrs/d of exercise to retain muscle and bone mass⁹. The fitness space draws from the ISS gym for equipment including a treadmill, stationary bike, and resistance bands, as well as open warmup/cooldown areas for other activities including physiotherapy and rehabilitation. A projector in the fitness space allows astronauts to project visuals during their workouts (e.g. videos or outdoor activities).

Two bathrooms with toilets, sinks, and "showers" are here for crew use separate from guests to avoid disturbances. While crew are expected to wear clothing for multiple days, a washer^{10 11} is available to minimize resupply mass (currently ~220 kg/yr/person of clothes on the ISS¹², easily justifying the mass).

Module 3: Sky-view

Viewing the Earth, the lunar landscape, and the night sky is one of the main tourist attractions on the base. The moon offers a wonderful dark sky without light pollution and a unique view to home. Tourists can participate in guided EVAs or rover exploration but can also view the sky from the Moon base at any time through the sky-view cupola (Figure 1). A telescope and camera allow guests and crew to observe and document the landscape.

Module 4: Crew Bedrooms and Private Social Space

Twenty-two crew bedrooms are placed around Module 4's central social area which is private for the crew and ideal for quieter activities. Beds are extendable from single to double to accommodate couples and can flip upwards to reveal a small desk or simply to open more floor space. The walls have velcro to allow the crew to decorate, and the rooms are designed for sound isolation (hence minimal equipment in the module and smaller fans per room). Belongings are stored in the floor or on shelves flipped up from the walls. Temperature and lighting are adjustable within each room, making it an ideal space for private relaxation, connecting with friends/family on Earth, meditation, or prayer.

Module 5: Workspace

Module 5 houses research payloads and is where crews primarily conduct their work. Crew time is prioritized towards activities that can only be done on the moon such as EVAs, and as such most administrative tasks are transmitted to Earth. The airlock is also located on this module to allow crews to bring in larger equipment that cannot fit inside the rovers.





Figure 5: Artistic render of the workspace, showing the crew laptops, tables for experiments, and payload bays along the walls.

The spaces can be configured to handle a wide variety of activities including biology/biotech, earth and space sciences, physical science, educational activities, and technology demonstrations. A 3D printer is available for fabricating replacement or specialized equipment. With the large amount of equipment running, the walls and floors are designed to dampen sound and curtains used to further isolate spaces as needed to reduce transmission throughout the module¹³.

Management and Politics

Governance, Ownership, and Intellectual Property

DIA does not purport to any national appropriation through claim of sovereignty or other means and recognizes that exploration and use of outer space is the province of all humankind through the freedoms enacted in the Outer Space Treaty¹⁴. International law is considered to apply in this region, and environmental policy follows the Artemis Accords and analogue terrestrial activities such as in Antarctica¹⁵.

DIA is governed by a fragmented polycentricity scheme¹⁶ which provides efficient, adaptive accountability to mitigate financial and public interest risks associated with single-state-led projects¹⁷. This allows all stakeholders to retain decision making power and avoid concentration of power with any single group. The governance is divided into three layers, shown in Figure 6. States or blocs of states that contribute infrastructure to DIA represent the core decision making group and may be arranged with the support of the UNCOPUOS as a subcommittee with a rotating leadership. Private organizations that directly contribute to the settlement or states that contribute non-infrastructure pieces represent the second layer and have influence over their specific contributions. States or organizations that do not have the funds to invest in the settlement may participate in the third layer as observers. DIA's functioning is based on transparency.

To maintain operational costs, there is a minimum threshold for investments to grant access to the 1st and 2nd tiers in exchange for access to the settlement for state- or privately-sponsored crew and payloads. The power granted in decision making is proportional to the contribution but capped such that no state is able to hold over one third of votes, and no bloc of states is able to hold over one half. English is the primary language of the base due to existing ground systems' functioning language; however, all native English-speakers must learn a second language primarily dependent on the countries contributing infrastructure equipment.



Figure 6: Polycentric governance model for DIA

As space activities have developed, innovations in outer space have outgrown existing intellectual

property (IP) legal frameworks, as was shown on the ISS Columbus Module¹⁸. A proposed framework for IP involves creating a central patent regulation authority to treat space as a unique territory for patent rights¹⁹, administered by a UNCOPUOS subcommittee to regulate the registration and allocation of patent rights and resolve patent disputes. This would provide more comprehensive protection for inventor rights, and a uniform approach to clarify the patenting process as a single jurisdiction. Inventions are protected using blockchain technology as it is cost-effective, fast, accurate, and can create immutable records of information to protect inventors²⁰.

Crew Operations

Crew operate in three rotating shifts, shown in Figure 7, to allow continuous monitoring of the settlement, limit the loading of shared areas, and provide overlap periods for members to interact with family/ friends from home. To prevent fractioning, each shift overlaps with the others for 2 hrs. of leisure/mealtime and 2 hrs. of work each day. Arriving groups are trained by current groups over a 1-week overlap before the senior-most group exits (Figure 8), during which the settlement may not exceed 30 people.

Stays do not need to be equal; however, only one group should be changing at a given time.

UTC	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10 11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18 19	20	21	22	23
Crew A			S	lee	р			Μ	L	w	Work	М	L	V	Nor	k	М	Work	Le	eisu	re	S
Crew B	w	м	Wo	ork	Le	eisu	re				Sleep				М	L	W	Work	М	L	Wo	ork
Crew C	W	ork	Wo	ork	М	L	W	ork	L	М	Work	Le	eisu	re				Sleep				М

Figure 7: Example schedule showing the interaction periods between each crew (bolded). Schedules align with North America, Europe, and eastern Asia landmasses

Period	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
Crew Rotations	Grou	up 2	Exit		Entry	1	Group !	5	Exit		Entry
	Entry	ry Group 3			Exit		Entry	Group 6	5	Exit	
	Exit	Entry			Group 4	1	Exit		Entry	Gro	up 7

Figure 8: Example rotation using equal crew durations. During entry/exit, the settlement is at peak occupancy.

Base Management System

Combined with committed efforts of the crew and a strong management system, what could have been a major disaster was curbed.

BASE MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

SPONSORSHIP HEAD

TECHNICAL SUPPORT

BASE HEAD Onboard the DIA B) Jase	MANAGING Earth DIA Administ	DIRECTOR tration		
Technical Head MAINTENANCE & REPAIR Indoor Repairs Outdoor Repair (Rover) INVENTORY	INSPECTION HEAD Base Inspector Transportation Inspector CONTROL & CAP-	HUMAN RESOURCE HEAD Astronaut Selection Committee Crew Handling Croup Crew Inventory Division HEAD OF PUBLIC POLICY Advisory Committee	HEAD OF ECONOMICS Accounts head Budgeting Head PARTNERSHIP & SPONSORSHIP HEA Tech Companies. Spac Agencies Non Tech Companies		
For Food supply, Refreshment and Research Tools Non-Technical MEDICAL HEAD TOURIST LEAD	Controls and Cap-Com GREENHOUSE HEAD Head VENTS & TRATEGY HEAD	HEAD OF STRATEGY Political Strategy Lead Cultural Strategy Lead HEAD OF PUBLIC RELATIONS Head of Reputation & Image	TECHNICAL SUPPO HEAD Engineering Head Research Head Medical Head		
		Events Planning Head			

Figure 9: Management structure on DIA

The management structure is divided into a lunar and Earth segment (Figure 9). The lunar segment is responsible for day-to-day activities, relying less on Earth for guidance, while the Earth segment acts to support lunar operations with policy, budget, tourism, marketing, resupply, etc. Both are overseen by the Managing Director that rotates among the 1st tier of supporting countries. The lunar segment hosts two groups: crew and tourists. Leadership follows the US/ Russian spaceflight models²¹ with a commander and mission/payload specialists. The responsibility for the base operations lie with the commander and their

Technical Risk	Critical life support failure	Major crew health failure	Non-critical system failure	Reliability compro- mised	Function- ality at reduced capacity	Increased mainten- ance
Human Risk	Immediate threat to life	Injury requires early base exit	Injury resulting in reduced capability	Recoverable major injury	Minor injury requiring first aid	Minor injury. No medical attention
Risk level & Example	Air system failure	Food spoilage within a module	Thermosyphon freezes	Cooling water leak	TH-AD system fouling	Lights are flickering
Redundancy	System & redundancy in each module	2 redundan- cies, with 1 being dissimilar	1 redundancy required	Selected spare parts available, & allow bypass	Allow bypass of affected system	No redundancies needed
Barriers	2 with one Dissimilar	2	1	Prominent label + instructions	Visible marking	No action required
Detection	All previous & monitoring with alarms	Prev. maint., & monitoring with alert indicator	Monitor core functionality	Routine failure mode audit	General audit	No action required
Incident Response	Evacuate area & attempt to repair	Reduce crew ops & attempt to repair	Replace affected systems & attempt to repair	Attempt repair & otherwise monitor	Attempt repair & otherwise monitor	Monitor
No. of crew responding	Full crew	Full crew	Multiple people per shift	1 person per shift	1 person	1 person
Research Priority	Eliminate failure mode	Eliminate failure mode	Eliminate or mitigate	Mitigate or simplify response	Not prioritized	Not prioritized

Table 1: Risk response matrix based on the risk level identified. Detection is additive as risks increase in severity. Physical redundancies, barriers, and detectors contribute to the launch mass.

delegates on other shifts, while mission/payload specialists work directly with specific systems. As tourism increases, a tourist head will be responsible for acting as a guide and developing tourism programs.

Power is decentralized among the crew to ensure equitable management; however, in emergencies the commander assumes control to coordinate response.

Safety & Emergency Planning

Antariksha had never seen a more peaceful and serene place, when suddenly her thoughts were interrupted by a small fire that had broken out in one of the kitchens. Deep down she knew she would be alright and her gut was right! She recalled her training on dealing with emergencies. The base was perfectly equipped to deal with them.

The isolation, complexity, and large investment into the lunar settlement supports a conservative approach to risk reduction^{22 23 24}. While risks can be mitigated, a disaster may still occur, requiring emergency response procedures²⁵ that all occupants must be familiar with. Human, technical, and social hazards are identified with a failure mode effects analysis and scored using a risk matrix shown in Table 2 to assign a risk level. Appropriate engineering and policy controls are determined using Table 1. The lunar gateway is required during the early setup stages (1st to 2nd module) as an evacuation method as only one level of redundancy is in place for most systems.

		Consequence								
Probability	1 Negligible	2 Minor	4 Moderate	8 Major	16 Extreme	Action				
5 Certain	6	7	9	13	21	Emergency				
4 Likely	5	6	8	12	20	Alert				
3 Possibly	4	5	7	11	19	Mitigate				
2 Unlikely	3	4	6	10	18	Monitor				
1 Rare	2	3	5	9	17	Record				

Table 2: Risk assessment matrix for identified hazards.Consequences are non-linear to capture scale.

Engineering

Being an Arts major, her curiosity knew no bounds specifically regarding what, how, and why it worked. Everything around her was an engineering marvel. She especially wondered how this particular location was chosen for the base.

Antariksha- I'm very curious as to how these systems would function on the moon. Is it as simple as our subsystems on Earth? How are they different?

LISA-You'd be surprised to know how far engineering can take us, after all it is what got us to the moon, the perfect combination of creativity, design and practicality.

Landing & Settlement Site

The settlement site near Shackleton Crater, Aitken Basin, is chosen due to its scientific interest, proximity to resources and flat topography for landing. Shackleton Crater contains a permanently shaded region and possibly frozen water for life support and fuel²⁶. Bussey et al. identified points A and B in Figure 10 that are each illuminated >80% of time²⁷, making them ideal solar power sites. Point C marks the habitat location in a flat (<10o) region between A and B; and point D is the landing site ~1 km downhill to provide a sufficient safety zone²⁸. Speed constraints in the terrain from the settlement to Shackleton Crater limit crewed EVAs into the crater; however, teleoperated mining is conducted using Site A as a recharge/ storage hub. This crater has been proposed as a site for an infrared telescope due to the low temperature inside and near-continuous solar power at the rim²⁹, and the regional soils are also of geological interest from the 2019 Lunar Science for Landed Missions Workshop³⁰.

Figure 10: Topography map (SLDEM2015(+LOLA)) built using ACT Quickmap



DIA



Launch Vehicles & Landing Infrastructure

Existing and near-term lunar launch vehicles were compared to select the most cost-effective solution, shown in Table 3. Vehicles were grouped by payload weight class (~10 mt, ~25 mt, and 40+ mt), which may be used at different construction stages. Vehicles with insufficient public data, as well as light-payload launchers (<<10 mt), were omitted. SpaceX's StarShip is the most suitable for payloads above 40 tones; however, it is still in development. For lighter payloads, the Falcon Heavy is strongly preferred due to its low cost of ~\$7000/kg.

Currently there are three landers under development as part of NASA's Artemis HLS program. The National Team ILV can carry ~7.2 mt of payload mass using an extended tank³¹, allowing it to transport the modules and crewed rovers which are the heaviest single items. Landers utilize optical terrain maps to navigate to the surface, with an expected accuracy of ~23m³². However, the ILV requires surface hydrogen refueling to return, limiting it to one-way transport until infrastructure is developed.

Weight Class	Launch Vehicles	\$/kg ³³	Flight Heritage	Reusability
Super Heavy	StarShip + SuperHeavy (Orbit Refuel) ³⁴	0	0	0
Super Heavy	SLS Block 1B/2 Cargo ³⁵	-1	-1	-1
Heavy	Falcon Heavy (expendable)	0	0	0
Heavy	SLS Block 1 Cargo	-2	-1	0
Heavy	Yenisei ³⁶	-1	-2	-1
Heavy	Don (Yenisei variant)	-1	-2	-1
Medium	Delta IV Heavy ³⁷	0	0	0
Medium	Vulcan Centaur (Heavy) ³⁸	2	-2	1
Medium	Ariane 6 (A64)	1	-2	0
Medium	Long March 5 ³⁹	1	-1	0

Table 3: Comparison of launch vehicles rated on a -2 to +2 scale against a baseline in each weight class. For vehicles in development, flight heritage is based on achieved TRL.

SpaceX's StarShip has a payload capacity of ~100 mt and acts as a reusable lander and temporary shelter, which can greatly shrink the launch schedule. The main risk of StarShip during early launches is in mission assurance and a large amount of idle equipment on the lunar surface which would compress the cost timeline and begin depreciation without generating revenue unless the construction timeline is



INTERIOR

Figure 11: Cross-sectional view of floor/ceiling and internal frame structure and the membrane material layup

shortened. To prevent regolith debris from damaging equipment during landing, the landing site is micro-wave sintered⁴⁰.

Settlement Structure

The settlement consists of five linked inflatable toroids, detailed in Table 4, totaling ~2200 m3 of habitable volume, allowing 10-20 people to live comfortably for long durations⁴¹ and a maximum of 30 during peak periods (e.g. crew changeover). Fewer, larger modules were preferred over multiple smaller habitats to avoid multiple setup missions which consume crew time⁴², while still distributing life support systems such that the loss of any one module would allow the crew to continue operating.

Parameters	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3	Option 4
Quantity	1-3	4-6	7-10	11+
Locations	Single	Split (two)	Split (multiple)	
Туре	Rigid	Inflatable	ISRU	
Shape	Cylinder	Sphere	Toroid	Other
Floors	Single	1.5	Two	Multiple
Micrometeoroid Shield	Solid	Whipple (ISRU)	Whipple (Integrated)	
Radiation Shielding	Solid	Water	ISRU	Underground
Rigidization Material	Titanium	Aluminum	Composite	Steel
Load Bearing Method	Catenary Arch	Triangulation	External Cable	Shell

Table 4: Module design morphological chart. Qualitative & quantitative trade studies considered cost, safety, human factors, and flight heritage. Selected option is highlighted.

Radiation shielding is achieved with a 3m regolith layer on the sides which are most heavily exposed to the sun, and ~1.5m layer on the rooftops that are less exposed to maintain safe exposure⁴³ while minimizing structural load.

The module is rigidized with rings placed radially around the toroid (Figure 11) to withstand the weight of equipment and occupants inside, and the membrane and regolith weight in the event of depressurization. The top and bottom regions in the torus occupied by the rigidization are used to store equipment, which offer sound isolation.

The membrane layup (Figure 11) is based on past

inflatable and spacesuit designs^{44 45 46 47}. Micrometeoroid spacer whipple shielding is located on the upper sides for debris that punctures the regolith layer. The bottom surface contains additional insulation to minimize conductive heat loss. When deflated, the module can be packaged similar to the TransHAB proposal to fit within a 6m wide payload fairing ⁴⁸. The total mass is ~6.6 mt/module.

Robotics and Extravehicular Activities (EVAs)

With no standardized commercial mobile platforms for surface lunar exploration, selection was based on commercially available uncrewed ground vehicles (UGVs)^{49 50}. The chassis is based on a COTS UGV (50 kg mass + 75 kg payload capacity on Earth) optimized for long-duration operations⁵¹. At 1/6g lunar gravity, actual payload capacity and range is likely higher; however, ruggedization such as heaters and static charge dissipation limit some of this opportunity.



Figure 12: Schematic of a UGV used for baseline rover⁵²

Each UGV has a standardized power and data interface to facilitate payload swapping⁵³ to maximize utilization and overall fleet reliability. Different payload types (Table 5) allow the UGV to perform specific tasks required to assemble the settlement. All mobile robots are teleoperable by the crew in-situ or from Earth, with potential autonomy added once the settlement is established to perform routine exploration.

Activity	Task	Payload Component	Comment
Bocon	Localization	Visual navigation suite	Mass optimized to
Recon	Mapping	(Stereo camera, LIDAR, CPU)	range
	Obstacle	Drill attachment to arm	Breakdown of
	Clearing	Driff accacimient to arm	removal
Ground	Levelling	Bulldozer blade attachment	
Preparation	Excavation	Excavator & collection attachment to arm	
	Regolith Sintering	Microwave sintering assembly	
Assembly	Manipulation	Fine gripper attachment to arm	For finer tasks & payload swapping
Support	Loading	Heavy gripper attachment to arm	
Support	Cargo Transport	Cargo bed	

Table 5: Rover labor breakdown and associated tooling

Delivery consists of 4 rovers based on the construction requirements in Figure 14, with a 5th in a permanent manipulation configuration for payload swapping and acting as a spare. During early construction, an infrastructure base station, such as in Figure 13, containing hybrid solar/fuel cell power, docking stations for rover recharging, and communications capability to relay telemetry and commands between the fleet and Earth is used.

Crewed lunar rovers are based on the Toyota/JAXA rover (~6.5 mt⁵⁴), with a detachable passenger cabin to allow the rover to be converted into a cargo carrier. The passenger module has a docking port on the aft to facilitate transfer of crew with the habitat and other rovers, and two suit port extensions on both the port and starboard side for spacesuit access without dust contamination. Long range crew expeditions can be performed with an extended power supply. One rover is required to tow the habitat module from the landing site to the settlement location, with a second rover available for rescues during EVAs.



Figure 13: Example base station lander concept⁵⁵

The spacesuits require a custom design based on the Artemis xEMU Spacesuit which can be easily adapted for suit-to-vehicle interfaces⁵⁶. Upon arrival, the crew don their suits to transfer to the crew rover and enter the settlement through the docking port. Cargo can be towed by the rover and imported via the airlock. The exiting crew takes their suits back to the Gateway station to be left for the next arrival. ~12 spacesuits are required (4 on Gateway, 8 on surface), with unused suits stored in the airlock. Airlock use is avoided to minimize power and air losses; however, it provides flexibility to conduct EVAs in a pure O2 environment for very active missions.

Construction Timeline

The design phase is able to begin immediately as critical technologies are flight proven and new technologies are already in development. The critical path is to assemble and crew the first module to begin payload missions and test new technologies. A phased approach for expanding into the final configuration allows gradual growth of crew size, capability, and exploration into Shackleton Crater for ISRU operations. Construction duration was not estimated as funding will influence the schedule; however, Figure 14 shows the relationships between the construction activities and the resources required.



Figure 14: Timeline for the settlement construction assuming regolith collection is rate-determining but comparable to other activities and construction targets the shortest timeline with minimal uncrewed payload mass redundancy.

Three core activities are identified to prepare the site for a habitat module, described in Figure 14. To minimize the regolith and transportation required, regolith collection occurs at the habitat site to a depth of <2 m with the habitats built in the resulting pit. If these activities are relatively similar in duration per module, three rovers are able to maintain high utilization with other minor activities during gaps. If one of the activities takes significantly longer than the others, a fourth rover and 1-2 duplicate payloads become economical to improve timeline.

Communications System

A lunar south pole communications system must maintain a constant communication link with Earth, provide high data rates (hundreds of Mbps) for scientific data transfer, support multiple frequency bands (Ka, S) and service four independent surface channels for various activities, prioritize high TRL components and scalability, and minimize maintenance and/ or station-keeping and maximize autonomy⁵⁷. From Table 6, a satellite relay-based system was selected to relay data to the Deep Space Network (DSN) on Earth to provide the required visibility⁵⁸.

Model	Data Rate (Mbps)		Ва	nd	Range (km)	Scalab -ility	TRL	Cost (\$M
	Earth	Moon	Earth	Moon				USD)
2 satellites in polar elliptical orbits	154 down 67 up	222 down 147 up	Ка	Ka + S	250	н	Н	750
Lander on Malapert mountain	500 down 200 up		Ка	Ка	5	L-M	L	500
1 satellite + lander on Malapert summit	500 down 200 up	222 down 147 up	Ка	Ka + S	5 & 250 (63% visibility)	H	L	875

Table 6: Comparison of communication models based on existing and proposed concepts. Cost includes R&D, launch, deployment, station keeping, maintenance over 5 years.^{59 60} The communications system (Figure 15) is divided into four short-range channels serviced by on-board RF units, and four long-range channels to communicate with Earth and one surface relay. The base and crewed rovers act as terminals containing a multiplexer to interleave information which are relayed to Earth via satellite/lander. A separate frequency channel is dedicated to high-volume data from science missions. The Ka band provides higher data rates compared to the S band at the cost of increased power, as shown in Figure 15, and is reserved for transmission to Earth.

The lunar settlement contains a WLAN network using 2.4 and 5 GHz frequencies divided into three VLANs to segregate crew computers/controllers, science payloads, and guest computers. The physical layer has a two-tier peer-to-peer network of controllers and laptops which distribute computation and data, providing high reliability.

The NASA LRS communication satellite⁶¹ is used as the design for the relay satellites as no current missions are able to meet the orbit, data rates, and mission requirements. The payload contains 1 m diameter S- and Ka-Band antennas co-located at the bottom of the spacecraft deck pointing to the South Pole, offering 250 and 30 km circular ranges respectively. Two satellites in the Table 7 orbit with 1800 phase difference provide 100% surface visibility, with future satellites at other inclinations offering expanded coverage. Since the Ka-band range is small, initial telemetry of scientific data is done from the base and exploration missions >30 km must use S-band.

Orbit Type	Semi-Major Axis	Eccentricity	Inclination	Arg of Perigee	Period
Inclined polar elliptical	6142 km	0.5999	57.7°	90°	12 Hours

Table 7: Satellite orbit design⁶²



Figure 15: Communications architecture showing the connectivity of surface units and Earth

Critical Life Support (Air & Water) Systems

The settlement operates at 1 atm (79% N2, 21% O2) from high-pressure tanks⁶³ due to its simplicity compared to lower-pressures which have difficulties in cooling, added fire risk, and impact of contaminants. Periodic resupplies are needed to replenish losses through the airlock. Oxygen is replenished using solid-oxide electrolysis of water which has considerable flight heritage and technology developments over its lifetime on the ISS⁶⁴.

From Figure 16, carbon dioxide (CO2) is concentrated using an improved 4-bed molecular sieve⁶⁵ and sent to a Sabatier reactor to produce water and methane (CH4)⁶⁶. Both technologies have ISS flight heritage and are mass and power-efficient over alternative processes⁶⁷. Methane pyrolysis (a TRL 4 technology)⁶⁸ is used to close the loop, reaching >95% oxygen regeneration by splitting hydrogen from methane, which is then used by the Sabatier, leaving behind solid carbon dust which is collected and stored as waste with potential future applications (e.g. as a sorbent).

Trace contaminants are removed using UV-TiO2 photocatalysis to oxidize organics⁶⁹, followed by sorbent beds. In an emergency where air becomes contaminated (e.g. fire), rebreather gas masks are used during the immediate response. For power or equipment failures, solid-fuel oxygen generators are used as a backup oxygen supply. Sufficient air is always on-hand to repressurize one module if a depressurization event occurs.

The water system in Figure 16, leverages ISS designs and technologies developed in space⁷⁰. Two new opportunities are explored to improve overall water recovery to >90%:



Figure 16: Air and water systems. Unlabeled streams contain water. Most separators are omitted. Flow rates estimated from ISS and Mir^{71 72}.

1. Converting human waste to fertilizer using thermal hydrolysis (TH) and anaerobic digestion (AD) to increase overall water recovery⁷³ (with losses from unused human waste until the greenhouse systems expand).

2. Using forward osmosis (FO) separation with brackish water reverse osmosis (BWRO) draw recovery due to improved weight and reliability verses filters (no moving parts and reduced clogging)^{74 75 76}. Hygiene water (washing, laundry, personal cleaning) is processed separately from human waste due to different flow rates and composition.

TH-AD sanitizes the waste and releases trapped

nutrients for the greenhouses and produces CO2 and CH4 for air revitalization. The TH process is fast (~30min residence time⁷⁷) while AD is slow (~4-day residence time⁷⁸), so a train of four parallel TH-reactors with offset batch cycles are used to provide a consistent flow rate between the two systems⁷⁹. There is opportunity to reduce the energy consumption by operating at lower pressures to boil at ~80oC for a longer time to achieve a 5-log kill⁸⁰ and sufficient conversion at the cost of increased reactor mass. Since urine is mixed into the TH-AD process, stabilization with chromium trioxide (used on the ISS)⁸¹ cannot be used; however, the larger crews allow near time-ofuse water recycling, eliminating the need for storage.

Thermal System

Beyond passive thermal protection provided by the regolith and MLI, habitat temperature is actively controlled by water-cooling air drawn from ventilation fans (Figure 17), with power-intensive equipment using dedicated water cooling. The water exchanges heat with an ammonia/N2 thermosyphon which transports it to external radiators⁸². Thermosyphons have high heat rejection capability (~20 kW) over long distances (>5 m) using thin 40 mm wide conductors⁸³, making these systems energy-, mass-, and cost-effective. The N2 acts as a non-condensable gas to prevent freezing⁸⁴. The base of the modules contacting the lunar surface conducts heat out, so condensation must be prevented with sufficient ventilation and humidity control. Some systems may; however, take advantage of this cooling.



Figure 17: Diagram of the heat transfer system for each module⁸⁵. Lunar gravity allows thermosyphons to function, eliminating exterior pumps which are less reliable.

The radiators are raised ~4m for the thermosyphon to function (10-30o angle⁸⁶) and allow radiation to occur on both faces. Panels are positioned between modules radiating upwards (Figure 20) to minimize distance to multiple locations. Variable emissivity coatings⁸⁷ reduce the required mass when the sun is incident to maintain heat rejection capability.

Food & Human Waste Recycling

During early stages, food is resupplied from Earth, with greenhouses supplementing the diet until sufficient reliability is achieved. Plants support closing the life support loop by recycling human waste; however, the quantity of plant matter in early stages is insufficient. Fast-growing plants and increased CO2 inside the greenhouse improve conversion rate. Organic gasses produced by plants are removed using TiO2 photocatalysis⁸⁸.



Figure 18: System diagram showing the food cycle on the lunar settlement

Two independent greenhouses are used to tailor the environment to different plants. Each greenhouse (Figure 19) has concentric tiered hydroponics and paths for crew access. Outer- and inner rings can grow larger plants that need trellises (e.g. tomatoes), while the middle rings can support shorter plants (e.g. lettuce). LED grow lights and sunlight via fiber optics are used with a large opportunity to maximize lighting efficiency using lenses/diffusers⁸⁹.



Figure 19: Diagram of the greenhouse layout.

Using lettuce as a representative^{90 91 92 93 94}, the greenhouses use ~1.5 kg/d of CO2, ~0.4 (dry) kg/d of excreta and transpire ~100 kg/d of water to yield ~8 kg/d of fresh produce. Inedible biomass is recycled via composting to supply mushroom farms to release trapped carbon⁹⁵. The greenhouses achieve mass-parity after ~2-3 years of operation, justifying expansion up to ~4-6x, before becoming fertilizer-limited and ~10x before becoming CO2-limited for a 20-person crew. By this stage, crew diets are largely sourced here, which require careful nutrient management and improved cooking capability. Automation systems are required to support crop management. To minimize waste and food storage, planting/harvest cycles are offset to approximate a continuous flow.





MOONBASE TOP VIEW, BENEATH FLOOR



Figure 20: Utilities layout in the module floors (top) and ceiling (bottom).

Other Waste

With food being resupplied, packaging waste will accumulate or require expensive disposal. Since food must last for 9-12 months in ambient conditions, multi-material packaging is often used, however, this makes recycling difficult. The strategies adopted by the settlement to minimize waste focus on reducing packaging first:

1. Allow packages to be opened to be hydrated (eliminating the nozzle found in ISS food packets)

2. Minimize the amount of food shipped by expanding the greenhouse/fungiculture capacity

3. Package food in bulk to take advantage of larger crews

4. Design packaging to be disassembled into homogenous materials to be re-extruded as 3D printer filament

Technical Floor Plan

Equipment is installed in the ceilings and floors, concentrated above/below walkways (Figure 20) to avoid excess interfaces through the membrane and facilitate maintenance; with the exception of loud equipment, pressurized tanks, and high-voltage systems. Critical life support systems (Floor: A, G, N; Ceiling: C, D, F, G) are in each module so that crews can operate if one module fails. Recycling (Floor: I, K, L) is in Modules 1 and 3 as these contain the majority of water consumption activities which concentrates the plumbing; and sized such each is sufficient for nominal loads.

The settlement's environmental system is cascade controlled, with each module independently operating and one global controller. The WLAN allows the crew to interface with equipment via laptops and tablets from any module, simplifying cross-module communication by using a single shared physical layer to minimize data lines.

Power Generation & Storage

The two power generating sites (Figure 10) have opposing illumination profiles; collectively lit 94% of time with a maximum dark period of 50 hrs.⁹⁶ which minimizes battery needs. Deployable solar arrays⁹⁷ are sized to allow normal operations during shoulder periods when one site is lit (26% of time), and high-power activities when both sites are lit (68% of time). Lunar dust impact on panel performance is mitigated using electrostatic "wipers"⁹⁸, with future missions to raise the panels. During eclipses, ~70 Li-ion batteries⁹⁹ are used to power the base, with the crew minimizing operations. Docked rovers act as backup power.

Power is transmitted from each solar site via 5 kV bipolar high-voltage DC (HVDC), shown in Figure 21, to minimize joule heating losses and mass. Early on, battery charge/discharge units may be linked directly to DC switching units at the solar ar-

rays for rovercharging. Grounding and switchgears for fault currents are needed to mitigate the safety risks of DC power¹⁰⁰, with all modules linked to facilitate inter-module grounding. The two power sites provide redundancy due to the lack of space heritage of HVDC. In Shackleton Crater, water may be electrolyzed and the gasses cryogenically stored, providing a smaller footprint and eliminating high-pressure tanks¹⁰¹. These gasses can be used in regenerative fuel cells for power¹⁰², which provides dissimilar redundancy to the power system, improving overall reliability¹⁰³.



Figure 21: Lunar habitat power system

Since lunar regolith is an insulator, grounding is difficult to protect against faults, and lunar HVDC is still in early development¹⁰⁴. Some technologies exist to mitigate static buildup from solar radiation and triboelectric charging¹⁰⁵ of rovers and astronauts. Dissipative materials on suit/rover interfaces allow controlled discharge when reconnecting.

The power requirements of the settlement are estimated in Table 8 based on past and proposed missions, and terrestrial technologies are can be supplied by ~20 arrays divided between the two generation sites based on new high-efficiency designs¹⁰⁶ and the expected solar irradiance and impact of dust at the lunar south pole¹⁰⁷. Figure 22 paretos the nominal case, identifying the greenhouse and sensors as primary areas to reduce power use.

Mode	Uncrewed	Shoulder	Nominal (20)	Max Crew (30)	Peak
Settlement Power (kW)	3	15	17	19	49
Experiment Allocation (kW)	0	25	30	30	30
Transmission Losses (kW)	<1	11	13	14	24
Subtotal +50% Margin (kW) ¹⁰⁸	<5	77	90	95	155
Total Energy (kWh/d)	100	1200	1800	2600	3300

Table 8: Estimated habitat power budget based on settle-ment systems (time in Earth days)^{109 - 117}



Figure 22: Pareto of settlement power and energy usage

Economy

It had been an unusual day, unlike any other she had experienced. She wondered if she could have taken back a souvenir home, something that would remind her of the moon and the wonderful things she learnt here.

Antariksha- Can I have a souvenir that would remind me of this trip?

LISA- Yes! DIA has a provision for buying mementos to take back.

She chose a locket made out of a moon rock. As she held it in her hand, it was a surreal feeling that one day this could be our future home.

Capital & Operating Costs

The cost of a lunar space program may be divided into three segments: the design/construction, launch program, and operational costs.

Depending on the geographic location and project delivery methods chosen by each investing organization, design, raw materials, labour, and indirect costs will vary considerably.

The life-cycle cost of the settlement was estimated to be \$200 Bn USD +/- 50% (2020) for a 20-year operating life as a multiple linear regression¹¹⁸ of 9 analog programs (Apollo¹¹⁹, ISS¹²⁰, MSL¹²¹, Gateway¹²², Insight¹²³, MAX-C¹²⁴, GPM, GRAIL, and LADEE¹²⁵) based on launch mass, distance, categorical complexity (1-4 based on requirements for orbit/landing and human/robotic), and categorical mission cost estimate accuracy (1-4 based on design phase at time of cost estimate) that span the parameter space. When applied to analog Mir station, this method produced a vast cost overestimation however the Mir project is an order of magnitude smaller and comparatively simpler (orbital in LEO). From the regression, launch mass is the primary cost driver (likely in lieu of complexity/scope), as such Figure 24 may be used to prioritize areas to identify simplification technologies.

To minimize cost overruns, ~10% of life-cycle costs is expected during early design to thoroughly define each mission¹²⁶.

Governments will likely represent the primary investment group due to their ability to invest in high-capital long-duration projects, contracting directly with private industry or issuing bonds. Venture capitalism is a viable option for private companies (e.g. Axiom Space, Bigelow Space, and other Commercial Lunar Payload Service (CLPS) providers¹²⁷) to fund independent contributions, with services sold to other businesses and governments once operational¹²⁸. Public-private partnerships are ideal to spread project risks across organizations and promote competition to identify cost-saving opportunities with the goal of improving the internal rate of return.

DIA



DIA — Mars Sample Lab — Apollo — International Space Station
 Artemis Gateway — Insight — MAX-C — GPM — GRAIL — LADEE

Figure 23: Analog missions used to estimate DIA life cycle costs.

Mass allocation for launches sought to minimize the launch frequency and distribute costs over the entire construction period to minimize idled equipment on the lunar surface, with spare mass sold as "ridealong" payloads to help recoup costs (Figure 25). Resupply mass includes food, water, air, and personal care packages for 20 people, plus 50% for other consumables and unplanned maintenance.



*Figure 24: Pareto of system launch masses with +50% margin*¹²⁸.

Cost Schedule

Based on analogs in the ISS¹³⁰, Mir, and Chinese Large Modular Space Station¹³¹, the design, development, and Earth construction will take on the order of 5-10 years before the first launch, another 1-2



*Figure 25: Settlement construction launch mass timeline. Crew/crew module mass is not included. Spare mass is available for ride-along missions based on the Falcon Heavy capacity*¹²⁹.

years between deployment and first crewing, and an expected 1-2 years for each subsequent expansion. The Chinese example has demonstrated the ability to perform these missions incredibly fast (4-6 years from announcement to first launch), however the cost is not yet known.

As a surface outpost, robotic construction activities must be conducted in parallel during these deployment periods. Labour cost in operating the robotics (akin to the operations of Mars rovers) will be in addition to the fabrication costs during these stages.

Revenue Generation

High launch costs and small workforces (10-30) on the lunar surface result in a service-based economy being the primary method of revenue generation. Space investments suffer from rapid depreciation of physical assets in the space environment, and obsolescence of R&D¹³². To balance between the need for rapid income generation from assets and methodical scaleup to minimize risk and spread financial investment, revenue sources have been identified throughout the construction timeline to minimize the idle time of physical assets (Table 9). This also provides robustness with de-scoping to respond to changing funding and public interest.

Estimating the revenue from space investment de pends heavily on the system boundaries and involves "knock-on" effects that benefit investing countries beyond the initial scope of work¹³³. With the current fast expansion into commercial space exploration which are opening new opportunities for private industries and public organizations to become involved, an exact market size and revenue cannot be estimated. However, as the first lunar settlement, this base effectively has a monopoly on lunar research that is beyond uncrewed exploration. Revenue generated is directed towards the states and other organizations that invested in the settlement to amortize their investments. To maximize return on the initial capital investment, the DIA investors should position themselves to provide services to private organizations.

	Revenue	Margin	% Readiness						
Source			Un-	Module				On-	
			crewed	1st	2nd	3rd	4th	5th	going
Rideshares	М	L	40	10	30	10	10	30	40
Commercial Payloads & IP	н	М	10	20	30	50	80	100	100
Infrastructure Sharing	М	М	20	30	30	30	50	80	100
Branding & Naming Rights	М	н	10	20	30	50	80	100	20
Crew Allocation	Н	М	0	0	0	0	50	100	100
Crew Services	М	М	0	0	0	20	50	100	100
Education & Outreach	L	L	10	10	10	10	30	50	100
Tourism & Recreation	М	L	0	0	0	0	50	100	100
Material Export	L	L	0	10	10	20	30	50	100
Manufacturing	L	L	0	0	0	0	0	10	20

Table 9: Summary of identified revenue sources, their relative size, and the construction stage at which these sources are active in increments of 10%. 100% represents full revenue generating capability is achieved.

Tourism & Outreach

Lastly, outreach and tourism are an opportunity to expand directly to the public. This is particularly critical for maintaining public interest in the lunar settlement to support ongoing govern ment budgets that will fund the operations. Lottery systems open crowd-funded methods of travel to the public, and outreach activities conducted by crew members while on the settlement and after they return to Earth expands educational institutions as customers and extends the service capability of astronauts when not directly on a mission. Tourism can expand rapidly as launch costs decrease and the settlement becomes more self-sufficient; however, until then, it will likely remain a low-margin activity primarily used to mitigate funding risks.

Commercial Activities

The earliest revenue source is in CLPS which can take advantage of early infrastructure (communications, power, rovers) and excess launch capacity. This will continue to grow as infrastructure is deployed (modules, telescopes) and merge into astronaut services conducted at the settlement. While this market will largely be government, public, and privately funded payloads, other funding models may be possible to expand the market¹³⁴. Beyond selling crew time and infrastructure resources, IP developed as a result of lunar research will stimulate terrestrial industries ("spin offs"), creating tangential benefits.

Owners are able to sell branding/advertisement space on their equipment which opens crowdfunding options (e.g. "\$1 for your name on a lunar plaque") as well as direct business branding. This, however, is a finite resource without continuous new surface area (e.g. clothing).

Crew allocation is initially provided to the investing countries; however, as more space-faring nations emerge, these crew positions may be sold to other countries to participate in the settlement. Nevertheless, margins will likely remain low until launch costs drop further.

Lunar Manufacturing

Lunar manufacturing is unlikely to be a significant revenue source due to the need for further capital expense to establish the necessary infrastructure for ISRU or import materials from Earth. However, ISRU is a cost-avoidance opportunity especially around water mining for power/life support and manufacturing of solar panels and ceramics. Lunar manufacturing is more advantageous to LEO if the processes are energy-intensive or require large quantities of materials that could otherwise be found in-situ. Exports of raw lunar regolith will likely be a steady income source, with prices dropping as supplies become readily accessible, increasing public accessibility¹³⁵.

Antriksha drifted to sleep, and she thought about the humbling experience this had been, after all we are but a speck of dust suspended in a sunbeam. She thought about how the universe reveals itself to us little by little and she wondered how far we as humans would expand our horizons, as we are explorers set to unravel the beauty of infinity and beyond.

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to our contributors Aaron Pickard | Alejandro Nuñez | Andrew Foster | Kanchan Vinayak Bhale | Ilaria Cinelli | Marco Romero

This team was organized under the Space Generation Advisory Council and organized by the Space Exploration Project Group, drawing expertise from members in the Space Safety and Sustainability Project Group, Space Policy & Law Project Group, and Space & Cyber Security Project Group



1 Crew Training from Space Safety Regulations and Standards, 2010.<u>https://</u> www.sciencedirect.com/topics/engineering/crew-training

2 Effects of isolation and confinement on humans-implications for manned space explorations, J. I. Pagel and A. Choukèr

Published Online:15 JUN 2016 <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00928.2015</u>
 Elliot, A. (2015) Color and psychological functioning: a review of theoretical and empirical work, Front Psychol. 2015

4 Caballero-Arce, C., Benlloch-Marco, J., (2012) Lighting of space habitats: Influence of color temperature on a crew's physical and mental health, The American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics

5 Chan, K. (2015) The Relaxation Effect of Nature Images and Coloured Light on Healthy People and Hospital Patients in China, Manchester Metropolitan University

6 White, M.P., Alcock, I., Grellier, J. et al. (2019) Spending at least 120 minutes a week in nature is associated with good health and wellbeing. Sci Rep 9, 7730

7 Lee, M., Lee, J., Park, B., Miyazaki, Y., (2015) Interaction with indoor plants may reduce psychological and physiological stress by suppressing autonomic nervous system activity in young adults: a randomized crossover study, J Physiol Anthropol.

8 NASA Education (n.d.) A hot shower and a hug. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. <u>https://www.nasa.gov/audience/foreducators/k-4/fea-</u> tures/F_Hot_Shower_and_Hug.html

9 Long-term effects of microgravity and possible countermeasures, J W Wolfe 1, J D Rummel; PMID: 11536970, DOI: 10.1016/0273-1177(92)90296-a

10 Phys.org (2019), Final frontier: Russia develops washing machine for space. Phys.org. <u>https://phys.org/news/2019-03-frontier-russia-machine-space.</u> html

11 Michalek, William F, (2011) Advanced Microgravity Compatible, Integrated Laundry System. NASA SBIR 2011 Solicitation. <u>https://sbir.gsfc.nasa.gov/SBIR/abstracts/11/sbir/phase1/SBIR-11-1-X3.02-9012.html?solicitationId=SBIR_11_P1</u>

12 Re-reference of (Phys.org 2019)

13 Hornyak, Tim. (2013). What does the International Space Station sound like? CNET. https://www.cnet.com/news/what-does-the-international-space-station-sound-like/

14 United Nations Office for Outer Space Affairs (1967) Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies. [online] Available at: https://writework.org

www.unoosa.org/oosa/en/ourwork/spacelaw/treaties/introouterspacetreaty.html
 Hughes, K. et al (2018) Antarctic environmental protection: Strengthening the links between science and governance, Environmental Science & Policy Vol. 83, pp 86-95

16 Carlisle, K. and Gruby, R.L. (2019), Polycentric Systems of Governance: A Theoretical Model for the Commons. Policy Stud J, 47: 927-952. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12212</u>

17 Winick, Erin (2018). Why getting back to the moon is so damn hard. MIT Technology Review. <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/2018/04/02/144152/</u>why-getting-back-to-the-moon-is-so-damn-hard/

18 ISS Utilization: Columbus Module of ESA. EO Directory Available at: https://earth.esa.int/web/eoportal/satellite-missions/i/iss-columbus

19 International Bureau of WIPO (2004) Intellectual Property and Space Activities. Available at: <u>https://www.wipo.int/export/sites/www/patent-law/en/</u> developments/pdf/ip_space.pdf

20 Rose A. (2020) Blockchain: Transforming the registration of IP rights and strengthening the protection of unregistered IP rights. Available at: <u>https://www.wipo.int/wipo_magazine_digital/en/2020/article_0002.html</u>

21 Marciaq J., Besonne L. (2009) Chapter 25- Crew Training Safety: An Integrated Process, Safety Design for Space Systems, Butterworth-Heinemann, pp 745-815 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7506-8580-1.00025-7</u>) Accessed from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/engineering/crew-training</u>

22 Tierney, K. (2014) Hazards and disaster, in: Sasaki, M., Goldstone, J., Zimmermann, E. and Sanderson, S. (eds.) Concise encyclopaedia of comparative sociology. Leiden: Brill.

23 Kelman, I. (2020) Disasters by choice. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

24 Singh, S., Eghdami, M. and Singh, S. (2014) The concept of social vulnerability: a review from disaster perspectives, International Journal of Interdisciplinary and Multidisciplinary Studies, 1 (6), pp. 71-82.

25 Alexander, D. (2016) How to write an emergency plan. Dunedin: Academic Press.

26 NASA. 2012. "Ice on the Moon: A Summary of Clementine and Lunar Prospector Results." nssdc.gsfc.nasa.gov. <u>https://nssdc.gsfc.nasa.gov/plane-tary/ice/ice_moon.htm</u>I.

27 Bussey, D. B., J. A. McGovern, P. D. Spudis, C. D. Neish, H. Noda, Y. Ishihara, and S. -. Sørensen. 2010. "Illumination conditions of the south pole of the Moon derived using Kaguya topography." Icarus 208, no. 2 (August): 558-564.
28 Cataldo, Robert L., and John M. Bozek. 1993. "Power Requirements for the First Lunar Outpost (FLO)." 10th Symposium on the Space Nuclear Power and Propulsion, (January), 10.

and Propulsion, (January), 10.
29 van Susante, P. 2002. "Design and Construction of a Lunar South Pole Infrared Telescope (LSPIRT)." 34th COSPAR Scientific Assembly, (October).
30 Jawin, Erica R., Sarah N. Valencia, Ryan N. Watkins, James M. Crowell, Clive R. Neal, and Gregory Schmidt. 2019. "Lunar Science for Landed Missions Workshop Findings Report." Earth and Space Science 6 (January): 2-40.

31 Weitering, Hanneke. 2019. "Blue Moon: Here's How Blue Origin's New

Lunar Lander Works." Space.com, May 10, 2019. <u>https://www.space.com/blue-origin-blue-moon-lander-explained.html</u>.

32 Re-reference of (Weitering 2019)

33 Qin Xu, Peter H., K.Smith 2019. "Launch Cost Analysis and Optimization Based on Analysis of Space System Characteristics" Transactions of the Japan Society for Aeronautical and Space Sciences Vol.62 No.4: 175-183
34 SpaceX. (2020) Starship User's Guide Revision 1.0 Available Online: https://www.spacex.com/media/starship.users.guide.vt.andf (Accessed 15.01)

https://www.spacex.com/media/starship_users_guide_v1.pdf [Accessed 15-01-2020]

35 Belvins J., Stough R. (2020) Space Launch System Update. Available online: <u>http://interstellarprobe.jhuapl.edu/uploadedDocs/presenta-</u> tions/526-Day%205_4_0797%20ISP%20Workshop%20Stough_111820_ <u>MC.pdf</u> [Accessed 15-01-2020]

36 RIA Novosti. 2019. "Roscosmos unveils characteristics of super-heavy rockets for flights to the Moon" P/A Hobocτμ ria.ru, April 24, 2019

37 ULA, June 2013. Atlas V and Delta IV Technical Summary Available Online: <u>https://www.ulalaunch.com/docs/default-source/rockets/atlas-v-and-del-ta-iv-technical-summary.pdf</u> [Accessed 15-01-2020]

88 Rereference of (ULA 2013) <same reference as 35>

39 The New Generation Launch Vehicles of Long March Family, Tangming Cheng, Xiojun Wang, Dong Li, Beijing Institute of Astronautical Systems Engineering, 54th International Astronautical Congress of the International Astronautical Federation, the International Academy of Astronautics, and the International Institute of Space Law, October 2003, Bremen, Germany

40 Mulqueen, John A. Lunar Lander Stage Requirements Based on the Civil. Needs Data Base. 1992. The Second Conference on Lunar Bases and Space Activities of the 21st Century. 101-117.

41 Re-reference of (Ruess, Schaenzlin, and Benaroya 2006, #)
42 Woodcock, Gordon R. Space Transfer Concepts and Analyses for Exploration Missions. 1993. Boeing Defense & Space Group Civil Space Product Development. Huntsville.

43 Ruess, F., J. Schaenzlin, and H. Benaroya. 2006. "Structural Design of a Lunar Habitat." Journal of Aerospace Engineering, 19, no. 3 (July): 133-157.
44 Wilson, John W., Francis A. Cucinotta, Brooke M. Anderson, J. Ware, and Cary Zeitlin. 2006. "Spacesuit Radiation Shield Design Methods." SAE Technical Papers, (July).

45 Barry, Patrick L. 2001. "Home, Space Home." NASA Science. <u>https://science.nasa.gov/science-news/science-at-nasa/2001/ast14mar_1</u>.

46 NASA Astromaterials Research and Exploration Science. n.d. "Shield Development." Astromaterials Research and Exploration Science Hypervelocity Impact Technology. <u>https://hvit.jsc.nasa.gov/shield-development/</u>.

47 DuPont. 2017. Kevlar Aramid Fiber Technical Guide. N.p.: DuPont.
48 Kennedy, Kriss J. 2016. Space Architecture Case Study: TransHab Inflatable Habitat. Houston: University of Houston. <u>https://ntrs.nasa.gov/cita-</u>tions/20160011581.

49 Clearpath Robotics. n.d. "Husky." Husky UGV. Accessed January, 2021. https://clearpathrobotics.com/husky-unmanned-ground-vehicle-robot/.

50 OffWorld. n.d. "OffWorld Workforce." OffWorld Workforce. Accessed January, 2020. https://www.offworld.ai/workforce.

51 Re-reference of (Cataldo and Bozek 1993, #)

52 Re-reference of (Clearpath Robotics)

53 <u>Callen, Phillip, 2014. "Robotic Transfer and Interfaces for External ISS</u> Payloads." Annual ISS Research and Development Conference, (June).

54 Motortrend.com and Kelly Lin. 2020. "The Lunar Cruiser Is Toyota's Very Real Land Cruiser for the Moon." Motortrend. <u>https://www.motortrend.com/</u>news/toyota-lunar-cruiser-land-cruiser-moon/.

55 SAGA Studio ApS. n.d. "Lunar Power Solution." SAGA. Accessed January, 2021. https://asaga.space/projects/lunar-power-solution.

56 Smith, Marshall, Douglas Craig, Nicole Herrmann, Erin Mahoney, Jonathan Kretzel, Nate MacIntyre, and Kandyce Goodliff. 2020. "The Artemis Program: An Overview of NASA's Activities to Return Humans to the Moon." IEEE Aerospace Conference, (March).

57 Roy-Chowdhury, Ayan & Hadjitheodosiou, Michael & Baras, John & Rentz, Nicolas. (2010). Modeling and Design of a Communication Architecture Supporting Lunar Exploration.

58 Tzinis, Irene. 2020. "What is the Deep Space Network?" NASA ScAN. https://www.nasa.gov/directorates/heo/scan/services/networks/deep_space_ network/about.

59 S. Schier, James, John J. Rush, W. Dan Williams, and Pete Vrotsos. 2005. Space Communication Architecture Supporting Exploration and Science: Plans and Studies for 2010-2030. Florida, USA: AIAA.

60 Flanegan, Mark, Jonathon Gal-Edd, Lynn Anderson, Joe Warner, Todd Ely, Charles Lee, Biren Shah, Arv Vaisnys, and James Schier. 2008. NASA's Lunar Communication and Navigation Architecture. Heidelberg, Germany: SpaceOps 2008 Conference.

61 Re-reference of (Flanegan et al. 2008, #)

62 Re-reference of (Flanegan et al. 2008, #)

63 Siceloff, Steven. 2014. "Air Supply: High Pressure Tanks Ready for Space Station." National Aeronautics and Space Administration, October 1, 2014. https://www.nasa.gov/content/air-supply-high-pressure-tanks-ready-for-space-station.

64 Takada, Kevin, Luis E. Velasquez, Steven V. Keuren, Phillip S. Baker, and Stephen H. McDougle. 2019. "Advanced Oxygen Generation Assembly for Exploration Missions." 49th International Conference on Environmental Systems. (July), 1-18.

65 Peters, Warren T., and James C. Knox. 2017. "4BMS-X Design and Test Activation." 47th International Conference on Environmental Systems, (July). 1-17.



66 Lange, Kevin E., Melanie M. French, Morgan B. Abney, and Daniel J. Barta. 2018. "Trading Advanced Oxygen Recovery Architectures and Technologies." 48th International Conference on Environmental Systems, (July), 1-14. 67 Re-reference of (Lange et al. 2018, #)

68 European Space Agency. 2017. "Development of a Methane Recovery Unit." European Space Agency. https://www.esa.int/Enabling_Support/Space_ Engineering Technology/Shaping_the_Future/Development_of_a_Methane Recovery_Unit.

- 69 Re-reference of (Costello 2019, #)
- Re-reference of (Bobe et al. 2016, #) 70
- Re-reference of (Bobe et al. 2016, #) 71
- 72 Re-reference of (Akin 2015)

Andriani, Dian, Arini Wresta, Aep Saepudin, and Budi Prawara. 2015. "A 73 Review of Recycling of Human Excreta to Energy through Biogas Generation: Indonesia Case." Energy Procedia 68 (April): 219-225.

74 Costello, Kirt. 2019. International Space Station Benefits for Humanity. Edited by Julie Robinson. 3rd ed. N.p.: International Space Station (ISS) Program Science Forum (PSF).

75 Re-reference of (Siew 2018)

76 Aquaporin. 2020. "Aquaporin Inside® Membranes." Aquaporin Inside® HFFO14 module. https://aquaporin.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Aquaporin-HFFO14-Datasheet2020-web.pdf

77 Panter, K., H. Holte, and P. Walley. 2013. "Challenges of Developing Small Scale Thermal Hydrolysis and Digestion Projects." 18th European Biosolids & Organic Resources Conference & Exhibition.

78 Duffy, Daniel P. 2017. "The Costs and Benefits of Anaerobic Digesters." MSW Management. https://www.mswmanagement.com/landfills/arti-

cle/13030153/the-costs-and-benefits-of-anaerobic-digesters. Re-reference of (Panter, Holte, and Walley 2013, #) 79

Penghe, Zhao, Liu Yuling, Dou Chuanchuan, and Wan Pengliang. 2020. 80 "Study on Dissolution Characteristics of Excess Sludge by Low-Temperature Thermal Hydrolysis and Acid Production by Fermentation." ACS Omega 5, no. 40 (October): 26101-26109.

81 Volpin, Federico, Umakant Badeti, Chen Wang, Jiaxi Jiang, Jorg Vogel, Stefano Freguia, Dena Fam, Jaeweon Cho, Sherub Phuntsho, and Ho K. Shon. 2020. "Urine Treatment on the International Space Station: Current Practice and Novel Approaches." Membranes 10, no. 11 (November): 327-345.

82 Hill, Scott A., Christopher Kostyk, Brian Motil, William Notardonato, Steven Rickman, and Theodore Swanson. 2010. DRAFT Thermal Management Systems Roadmap. Washington: National Aeronautics and Space Administration. https://www.nasa.gov/pdf/501320main_TA14-Thermal-DRAFT-Nov2010-A.pdf.

83 Dobson, R. T., and D. G. Kroger. 2000. "Thermal characterisation of an ammonia-charged two-phase closed thermosyphon." R&D Journal 16, no. 2 (April): 33-40.

84 Advanced Cooling Technologies. n.d. Gas Loaded Heat Pipes for Start Up from a Frozen State. Lancaster: Advanced Cooling Technologies. https://www.1-act.com/resources/heat-pipe-fundamentals/different-types-of-heat-pipes/ gas-loaded-variable-conductance-heat-pipes-for-start-up-from-a-frozen-state/. 85 Wall, Mike. 2013. "'Serious Coolant Leak on Space Station Has a History." Space.com, May 10, 2013. https://www.space.com/21063-space-station-coolant-leaks-history.html.

86 Re-reference of (Dobson and Kroger 2000, #)

87 Darrin, Ann G., Robert Osiander, John Champion, Ted Swanson, and

Donya Douglas. 2000. "Variable emissivity through MEMS technology." AIP Conference Proceedings 504:803-808.

88 Re-reference of (Costello 2019, #)

89 Saito, Yuta, Hiroshi Shimizu, Hiroshi Nakashima, Juro Miyasaka, and Katsuaki Ohdoi. 2013. "Effect of Distribution of Photosynthetic Photon Flux Density Created by LEDs and Condenser Lenses on Growth of Leaf Lettuce (Lactuca sativa var. angustana)." Environmental Control in Biology 51 (3): 131-137.

90 Gilmour. n.d. "Gilmour." Growing Lush, Green, Crisp Lettuce. https://gilmour.com/growing-lettuce.

91 Antonius. 2013. "Commercial Hydroponic Farming." Planting density of various vegetable crops in hydroponic systems. https://www.commercial-hydroponic-farming.com/planting-density-hydroponics/.

92 Suhaimi, Mohd M., A. M. Leman, Azizi Afandi, Azian Hariri, Ahmad F. Idris, S.N. M. Dzulkifli, and Paran Gani. 2017. "Effectiveness of Indoor Plant to Reduce CO2 in Indoor Environment." MATEC Web Conf. International Symposium on Civil and Environmental Engineering 2016 103 (April): 05004.

93 Urban Farmer. n.d. "Urban Farmer: Love the Earth." Vegetable Fertilizer Guide. <u>https://www.ufseeds.com/learning/fertilizer/</u>. 94 Re-reference of (Sullivan, Cogger, and Bary 2015, #)

95 Moore, David. 1991. "Mushrooms in Microgravity - Mycology at the Final Frontier." Mycologist 5, no. 1 (January): 11-18.

96 Re-reference of (Bussey et al. 2010, #)

Boulanger, Bernard, Yannick Baudasse, Francois Guinot, Laurent D'Abri-97 geon, Mikael Thibaudeau, Marina Heim, Fabrice Buffe, and Etienne Rapp. 2017. "Development of Innovative Mechanical Flexible Solar Array Architecture." E3S Web of Conferences 16:1-7.

98 Kawamoto, H., M. Uchiyama, B. L. Cooper, and D. S. McKay. 2011. "Mitigation of lunar dust on solar panels and optical elements utilizing electrostatic traveling-wave." Journal of Electrostatics 69, no. 4 (August): 370-379.

99 Re-reference of (Schwanbeck and Dalton 2019, #)

100 Re-reference of (Khan et al. 2006, #)

101 Khan, Z., A. Vrantis, A. Zavoico, S. Freid, and B. Manners. 2006. Power System Concepts for the Lunar Outpost: A Review of the Power Generation, Energy Storage, Power Management and Distribution (PMAD) System Reguirements and Potential Technologies for Development of the Lunar Outpost. Albuquerque: Space Technology and Applications International Forum.

- 102 Re-reference of (Khan et al. 2006, #) 103
- Re-reference of (Khan et al. 2006, #)

104 Bell, Trudy E. 2005. "Crackling Planets." National Aeronautics and Space Administration. https://www.nasa.gov/vision/space/livinginspace/10aug_crackling.html

105 Rhodes, Dov J., William M. Farrell, and Jason L. McLain. 2020. "Tribocharging and electrical grounding of a drill in shadowed regions of the Moon." Advances in Space Research 66, no. 4 (August): 753-759.

106 National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 2016. "High-Efficiency Solar Cell: Selenium Interlayer for multi-junction photovoltaic cell for both space and terrestrial applications." High-Efficiency Solar Cell. https://ntts-prod. s3.amazonaws.com/t2p/prod/t2media/tops/pdf/LEW-TOPS-50.pdf.

107 Kaczmarzyk, Marcin, Marcin Gawronski, and Grzegorz Piatkowski. 2018. "Global database of direct solar radiation at the Moon's surface for lunar engineering purposes." E3S Web of Conferences 49, no. 6 (August): 12.

108 NASA Engineering Management Council (n.d.). NASA Mission Design Processes. Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt

109 Re-reference of (Khan et al. 2006, #)

110 Bobe, Leonid, Alexey Kochetkov, Alexander Tsygankov, Alexandr Korobkov, Sergey Romanov, Alexander Zeleznyakov, Peter Andreychuk, and Yu. E. Sinyak. 2016. "Design and operation of water recovery systems for space

stations." 46th International Conference on Environmental Systems, (July). 111 Siew, Yewee. 2018. "Forward osmosis draw solutions and draw solution recovery methods." ForwardOsmosisTech. https://www.forwardosmosistech. com/forward-osmosis-draw-solutions-and-draw-solution-recovery-methods/.

112 Sakurai, Masato, Takuma Terao, and Yoshitsugu Sone. 2015. "Development of Water Electrolysis System for Oxygen Production Aimed at Energy Saving and High Safety." 45th International Conference on Environmental Systems, (July),

113 National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 2000. International Space Station User's Guide. N.p.: National Aeronautics and Space Administration. http://www.spaceref.com/iss/ops/ISS.User.Guide.R2.pdf.

114 Re-reference of (Cataldo and Bozek 1993, #)

115 National Aeronautics and Space Administration. 2006. Environmental Control and Life Support System. N.p.: United Space Alliance LLC. https:// www.nasa.gov/centers/johnson/pdf/383445main_eclss_21002.pdf

116 Schwanbeck, Eugene, and Penni Dalton. 2019. "International Space Station Lithium-ion Batteries for Primary Electric Power System." 2019 European Space Power Conference (ESPC).

117 Re-reference of (NASA Engineering Management Council (n.d.)) 118 Shishko, Robert. Developing Analogy Cost Estimates for Space Missions. Space 2004 Conference and Exhibit, 2004.

119 Dreier, Casey (June 17 2019). A new accounting for Apollo: how much did it really cost? The Space Review. https://www.thespacereview.com/article/3737/1

120 Lafleur, Claude (March 8 2010). Costs of US piloted programs. The Space Review. https://www.thespacereview.com/article/1579/1

121 Martin, Paul K. (2011). NASA's Management of the Mars Science Laboratory Project. NASA Office of Inspector General. https://oig.nasa.gov/docs/ IG-11-019.pdf

122 Mann, Adam (3 July 2019). NASA's Artemis Program. Space.com. https:// www.space.com/artemis-program.html

123 Howell, Elizabeth (26 November 2018). Insight Lander: Probing the Martian Interior. Space.com. https://www.space.com/40067-mars-insight-lander.html

124 Committee on the Planetary Science Decadal Survey (2011). Vision and Voyages for Planetary Science in the Decade 2013-2022. National Academy of **Sciences**

125 US Government Accountability Office (2012). NASA Assessments of Selected Large-Scale Projects. US GAO.

126

127 PwC (2020). Main Trends & Challenges in the Space Sector 2nd Edition. PwC. https://www.pwc.fr/fr/assets/files/pdf/2020/12/en-france-pwc-main-trendsand-challenges-in-the-space-sector.pdf

128 Re-reference of (PwC 2020)

129 SpaceX. n.d. "Falcon Heavy." SpaceX. https://www.spacex.com/vehicles/ falcon-heavy/.

130 European Space Agency (n.d.). Building the International Space Station. https://www.esa.int/Science_Exploration/Human_and_Robotic_Exploration/ International_Space_Station/Building_the_International_Space_Station3

131 Jones, Andrew (2020). China outlines intense space station launch schedule, new astronaut selection. SpaceNews. https://spacenews.com/china-outlines-intense-space-station-launch-schedule-new-astronaut-selection/

132 Statistics Canada (2011). Depreciation of research and development satellite account expenditure. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/13-604-m/2007056/s8-eng.html

133 Re-reference of (Costello, 2019)

134 The Planetary Society (17 June 2020). Lightsail 2 enters extended mission phase. The Planetary Society. https://www.planetary.org/articles/lightsail-2-extended-mission

135 Grush, Loren (10 September 2020). NASA wants to buy moon rocks from private companies. The Verge. https://www.theverge.com/2020/9/10/21429850/ nasa-moon-rocks-sampling-commercial-space-t